STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000149

RECEIVED

JAN 30 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE, RESPONDENT,

v.

RAYMOND YOUNG, APPELLANT.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT
RAYMOND YOUNG

J. FALKNER WILKES, 12893
114 WHITSETT STREET
GREENVILLE, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000207

THE STATE, RESPONDENT,

v.

RAYMOND YOUNG, APPELLANT.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT
RAYMOND YOUNG

J. FALKNER WILKES, 12893
114 WHITSETT STREET
GREENVILLE, SC 29601

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in denying the Appellant's Batson motion where the state's explanation for striking African American jurors was inherently racial, fundamentally implausible and, where the state failed to give a racially neutral reason for the uneven treatment between the African American jurors that were struck and at least one similarly situated white juror that was seated?
- II. Whether the trial court erred in allowing testimony by the State's witnesses using the term "gang" in reference to Appellant's case where the solicitor failed to lay the proper foundation that Appellant was a gang member, the reference was inflammatory and unduly prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE, and the reference constituted improper character evidence under Rule 404, SCRE?
- III. Whether the trial court erred in admitting photographs of the co-defendants allegedly making "gang signs" where the solicitor failed to lay the proper foundation for their admission, they were not relevant to the facts at issue in the case, and they were unduly prejudicial?
- IV. Whether the trial court erred in coercing co-defendant DaQuan Bruster to testify for the State by threatening to vacate his guilty plea such that he would be facing life without parole (LWOP) because the judge found that Bruster's first testimony violated the plea agreement?
- V. Whether the trial court erred in failing to declare a mistrial where jurors from this trial were overheard by a juror in another case talking in the restroom during the lunch break about Appellant's case, saying such things as "the need to decode the language", "I was chillin," and "he's going down," followed by laughter?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 29, 2012, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Raymond Lewis Young along with Esaiveus Frantrez Booker, Kinjta Kadeem Sadler, and Michael Antonio Williams each on seven counts of attempted murder, one count of assault and battery by mob second degree, one count of conspiracy, and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. * (Indictments).

On January 7, 2013, Young proceeded to a jury trial, the Honorable Edward W. Miller presiding. Young was tried along with the three co-defendants. Booker was represented by Randy Chambers; Michael Williams was represented by Scott Robinson; Kinjta Sadler was represented by Thomas Quinn; and Raymond Young was represented by John Abdalla. The State was represented by Katrina Salisbury. The jury found Young guilty of the seven counts of attempted murder, one count of assault and battery by mob in the second degree and one count of conspiracy. Young was found not guilty of possession of a firearm during the commission of a crime of violence. Young was sentenced to thirty years on each of the attempted murder charges, with all sentences to run concurrently. Young was sentenced to five years on the conspiracy charge, which was also concurrent with the attempted murder charges. On the assault and battery by mob in the second degree Young was sentenced to ten years consecutive suspended with five years probation.

Subsequent to the filing of the appeal J. Falkner Wilkes was substituted as counsel for Raymond Young. Raymond Young has moved to consolidate this appeal with that of co-defendant Esaiveus Frantrez Booker (2013-000149). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Jury Selection

The four co-defendants in this case were African American. At the onset of the jury selection process, counsel for Esaiveus Booker (Chambers) indicated that with the consent of all counsel he would be speaking for the group. R. 36, l. 18-25. At the end of jury selection, still speaking on behalf of all co-defendants counsel stated: "Your Honor, we do have a matter regarding jury selection we'd like to take up outside the presence of the jury." R. 62, l. 17-19. Once the jury was excused counsel raised a Batson challenge based on the state's strike of three African American jurors. R. 63, l. 4-9. In the discussion of the objection Chambers clearly indicated that he was still speaking for the group, stating: "we don't believe the state articulated racially neutral causes." R. 65, l. 4-6. The Batson issue was therefore properly raised on behalf of all four defendants in this case.

In response to the Batson motion the court noted for the record that Juror No. 293 was an African American, and was seated. Juror No. 308 was an African American and was seated. Juror No. 281 was an African American and was struck by the State with its fourth preemptory challenge. Juror No. 81 was an African American and was struck by the State with fifth preemptory challenge. Juror No. 215, the first alternate was African American, was also struck by the State. R. 63, l. 10-19.

The defense challenged the state's strike of all three jurors. R. 63, l. 20-21. In response the solicitor stated reasons for each of the three strikes. R. 63-64. For juror 81, the solicitor stated that the strike was based on the comments made by the juror during the voir dire. R. 63, l. 23-64, l. 4. As to Juror 81 and 215 the reason stated for the strike was based on where the jurors resided.

R. 64. Specifically, the solicitor stated: "[Juror 81] lives on Prancer Avenue in Greenville County. It's my understanding that some of the witnesses in this case live in the area of Prancer Avenue and I was quite simply concerned that juror may become family with the witnesses even though she may not recognize their names off hand. That's my basis for striking her." R. 65, l. 5-11. As to Juror 215 the solicitor stated: "I note that Mr. Montgomery lives at Piedmont and I have the same reservations. There are many of these witnesses that live in the Piedmont area and have residences in Piedmont and again just out of an abundance of caution, I was concerned that he may be familiar with some of the witnesses in this case and decided that another alternate may be a better choice." R. 64, l. 12-19.

The defense (Chambers) argued that during voir dire the jurors certainly had the opportunity to identify any witnesses they may know. R. 64, l. 21-R. 65, l. 6. The defense's reference was to voir dire where the name of every potential witness in the case was announced after which the court inquired specifically as to whether any potential juror was "related by blood or marriage or has a business, personal, or social relationship with any of those potential witnesses whose names I have just read?" R. 48-50; 50, l. 16-20. The defense pointed out that the court had taken great effort "to ensure that anyone who had any problems serving could come forward." R. 64-65. Prior to the jury selection the solicitor had asked the judge to allow prospective jurors to come forward to the bench to discuss any particular responses to the voir dire in private, particularly in regards to the press and any familiarity with the parties involved. R. 35, l. 8-15. The court agreed and proceeded accordingly. R. 35, l. 16. The solicitor did not request any additional voir dire of the jury panel after the jury selection. R. 62, l. 14-15. The defense further pointed out that several prospective jurors did come forward to addressed

concerns and were excused for cause. R. 65. The court stated in response that the solicitor's reasons were racially neutral and that the defense would "have to show me something more than what you have to show that there's purposeful discrimination." R. 65, l. 8-11.

When the court asked if the defense had anything else to show purposeful discrimination the defense (Quinn) pointed out that the state seated a white juror [Juror 106] that lived at 13 Piedmont Avenue in Piedmont. R. 65, l. 12-18. Juror 106 was seated prior to the exhaustion of the state's strikes. R. 55, l. 22-24. The solicitor struck Juror 81 and Juror 215 after seating Juror 106. R. 60, l. 3-6. The solicitor failed to articulate any reason why the residence of the white juror living in Piedmont that was seated was any less a concern than the residence of the African American juror residing in Piedmont that was struck: "I just didn't indicate on my list that that was an address that I had some concern about. So I do and some I don't, but that doesn't make it the - -" R. 65, 19-22. The solicitor went on to say: " I didn't make that address on Ms. Fox [Juror ____], it is something that I had no concern. I had concerns about the Piedmont address but not this one. I don't know the geography of Greenville County with enough sophistication to appreciate the minor details of the community the basis of my strike, Judge." R. 66, ll. 2-9. Then, despite stating that the defense "makes a very valid point" about the disparate treatment between black and white jurors, the court nevertheless denied the defense's motion stating: "Okay. Well, Mr. Quinn makes a very valid point. I'm going to rely on State versus Tucker and Peyton versus Kirk Kears {ph} that I don't see a discriminatory intent inherent in the proponent's explanation and so I believe those cases require me to find the reason offered to be deemed race neutral. So I'm going to deny your motion." R. 66, ll. 10-16.

Incident

On July 17, 2011, at approximately 3:30 in the early morning, a group of young people was talking outside of their vehicles at a Lil Cricket gas station in Greenville. They had recently left the hospital, where they had taken their friend, Vincent Fant a/k/a "Buddha," who had been shot at the Red Planet night club earlier that night. R. 105, ll. 11-25; R. 140, l. 19 - 150, l. 12. Suddenly, shots rang out in every direction. Seven people were shot with all requiring medical attention. R. 106, ll. 1 - 11. None of the victims could identify the shooters. R. 157, ll. 20-23; R. 169, l. 10-25; R. 176, ll. 12-21; R. 226, ll. 5-9; R. 234, ll. 1-6; R. 245, ll. 1-12; R. 251, ll. 6-17; R. 253, ll. 2-11; R. 258, ll. 12-16; R. 263, ll. 1-17. Only one of the victims actually saw them, but he could not make any identification because the shooters were wearing black bandanas over their faces. R. 189, l. 14 - 190, l. 15.

The assistant solicitor told the jury in her opening statement that eight young men were arrested and charged in this case. Four of the eight were on trial and the other four would provide testimony against them. The solicitor believed that the defendants carried out their plan to park behind Lil Cricket, approach the gas station on foot, and open fire. R. 106, l. 3 - R. 111, l. 17. She theorized that the co-defendants shot at the victims in retaliation for another shooting that took place earlier that evening at the Red Planet Nightclub. R. 106, ll. 7-16.

Evidence Related to Gangs

During pretrial motions, the solicitor told the court that she had documents related to the defendants' gang affiliation that she planned to admit if they became relevant. The trial judge cautioned the solicitor that her witnesses needed to be careful about how they described any such documentation so that they did not "put a defendant's character into issue in violation of the

rules." R. 70, ll. 8-22. Counsel Abdalla for co-defendant Young argued that all of the defendants had a motion in limine to prevent the solicitor from any mention of gangs or use of the word gang because the prejudicial effect outweighed any probative value. He argued that it would be very difficult for their clients to have a fair trial if the jury related it to gangs. He said that "either they [the solicitor] can prove their case without that [the mention of gangs] or they cannot." The judge asked for a foundation that the jury would be prejudiced by "the mention of the word gang" and agreed to allow counsel to present further argument the next morning. R. 70, l. 23 - 71, l. 22.

The next day, January 8, 2013, counsel Robinson for co-defendant Williams argued the motion shared by all the defendants regarding any reference by the solicitor to gangs. Counsel argued that the solicitor had not charged any of the co-defendants with being a criminal gang under the Criminal Gang Prevention Act. This Act defined a criminal gang as "a formal or informal ongoing organization, association, or group that consists of five or more persons who form for the purpose of committing criminal activity and who knowingly and actively participate in a pattern of criminal gang activity." S.C. Code § 16-8-230(2). Counsel further argued that references to the defendant's gang involvement was unduly prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE and that the word "gang" took on an inflammatory appeal to the passions of the average person. R. 93, ll. 20 - R. 95, ll. 23.

The judge responded that the term was "pretty wide open" and he could not rule in a vacuum. Defense counsel Chambers argued that the State intended to call as a witness investigator Brown whose sole job was to investigate gangs because the solicitor had pursued this case as though these young men were part of the gang known as the Folk Nation. The defendants asked to stop that before it happened. R. 96, ll. 1 - 24.

The solicitor argued that there was no charge related to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-8-230. Therefore, she reasoned, the statutory definition of "gang" was not controlling. The solicitor stated she was "not alleging that this group of defendants participated in a pattern of criminal gang activity," but that she was prepared to present evidence they were in a gang. She proffered that it would be apparent from her very first witness that the people the victims fought with earlier that night at the club were dressed in all black and known to them as "the G's." Additionally, she proffered that "several of the witnesses" would indicate that they knew co-defendant Young by name and knew him to be the leader of the Folk Nation sect in Greenville. She further stated that the investigators pursued leads from witnesses that a gang committed the attack and thus the testimony related to gangs was "critical to how the case was investigated." Additionally, since the defendants were charged with assault and battery mob, "the mob is the gang." R. 98, l. 1 - 100, l. 9.

Counsel Robinson for co-defendant Williams argued that any reference was also prevented under Rule 404(a) because it interjected the defendants' character into the evidence because the jury would think they were bad people if they heard the word gang. The judge ruled that he could not limit the solicitor's presentation of her case because it may impugn the defendants' character, but he would see how "it played out." R. 100, l. 1 - 101, l. 19; R. 102, l. 24 - 104, l. 13. Counsel Abdalla reiterated that the solicitor would not be prevented from putting on evidence to support its theory of the case by being prevented from using the word "gang." R. 101, l. 21 - 102, l. 23.

After several witnesses testified, defense counsel Chambers told the Court that the solicitor's next witness was investigator Brandon Brown who was with the gang investigation

unit. Counsel asked that Investigator Brown identify himself only as an investigator with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office and not identify himself as a gang investigator. Counsel argued that no foundation was laid by the solicitor that the defendants were members of a gang. The judge said that the exception was noted for the record. The judge also acknowledged that all of the attorneys for the defendants joined in the objection. R. 472, l. 7 - 473, l. 23.

Immediately after that ruling, Investigator Brandon Brown was the next witness for the State. He described himself as a "gang investigator assigned to the Federal Bureau of Investigation as a task force officer." He was contacted by Investigator Wayne Campbell to respond to the shooting at Lil Cricket due to the multiple shootings. His job was to collect information and try to determine if there was any information he knew as a gang investigator that could assist the lead investigator. R. 475, l. 23 - 477, l. 16.

He was not able to speak with the victims, as they had all been transported away from the scene when he arrived. Many witnesses did not want to speak with the police, allegedly because they were scared. However, he was able to learn that the victims had an altercation at another location earlier in the night with "them Folk Boys," who were wearing all black. Investigator Brown heard the name "Mikey," but it did not have any significance to him at the time. Another investigator informed him that Brandon Edwards was one of the individuals shot at the previous location. Investigator Brown "knew him [Edwards] to be involved with several individuals specifically on the southern end of Greenville County which led [him] to possible names of people that are typically involved with them." He knew Edwards to be an associate and possibly a family member of co-defendant Raymond Young. R. 477, l. 17 - 479, l. 13. Counsel Abdalla for co-defendant Young objected to the testimony regarding this "whole gang thing." The judge

overruled the objection. R. 481, ll. 9-17.

Investigator Brown continued to testify that he found evidence that Williams and Young were communicating via Facebook. It was there that he located a picture labeled "The Family." R. 480, l. 10 - 481, l. 25. This appeared to be a club picture. R. 482, ll. 14-25.

The solicitor then showed Investigator Brown several photographs that he "received during the course of the investigation," and she asked about hand signs as they related to gangs. Investigator Brown's testimony was that hand signs were a popular way to identify gang members as they were "universal" signs. Several of them were in these photographs according to Brown. There were some signs associated specifically with the Folk Nation or the Gangster Disciples. He identified some of the defendants as exhibiting these signs in the photographs. The trial court admitted photographs over the defense objection. R. 500, ll. 1 - 506, ll. 23; State's Exhibit 51 and 54, photographs (on file with this Court).

Testimony of Co-Defendants

Prior to the commencement of the trial, co-defendants Larry Johnson, Shaquille Hogan, Daquan Bruster, Tavarus Dean Holmes, and Kiara Simmons all entered guilty pleas. With the exception of Simmons, all of the co-defendants were called to testify in the State's case-in-chief. Notably, there was no mention at the plea hearings that acceptance of the plea offers required any of those individuals to testify at the co-defendants' trial. R. 3, l. 3 - 34, l. 25. With respect to Daquan Bruster, the solicitor put on the record only that sentencing be deferred and that, as part of the plea, the solicitor agreed to withdraw the notice of intent to seek life without parole that it had filed. R. 18, ll. 16-19. With respect to Tavarus Holmes, the solicitor indicated that it would again defer sentencing and "agreed to dismiss six counts of attempted murder, the weapons

charge, and assault and battery by mob as part of the defendant's plea to these two charges." R. 29, ll. 13-18.

Testimony of Larry Johnson

One of the co-defendants, Larry Johnson, testified for the State that he was charged in this incident and pled guilty earlier to attempted murder and second degree assault and battery by a mob. His sentencing was deferred. R. 550, ll. 1-24.

According to Johnson, he went to the Red Planet and was with his friends, which included the four co-defendants as well as Tavarus Holmes and Daquan Bruster. R. 551, l. 1 - 552, l. 23. Another friend, Brandon who was known as "Black," was also there. Brandon and Michael Williams got into a fight outside the club with some other guys. Later, Johnson heard gunshots and he and his friends left. They met at another club, "864," to discuss what happened. It was there that Johnson learned that Brandon ("Black") and another friend, "Bram-Bram," were shot. R. 558, l. 1 - 560, l. 25.

Johnson maintained that while they were driving down White Horse road past Lil Cricket when co-defendant Young said those guys at the Lil Cricket looked like the ones that shot Bram-Bram. They returned to Club 864. Johnson testified that Young told everyone who was going to "come on." According to Johnson's testimony Young, Booker, Sadler, and Williams covered their faces with black tee-shirts. They, along with Johnson, Bruster, Holmes, and Hogan, all rode to Lil Cricket and parked behind it. R. 561, l. 1 - 565, l. 7. With the exception of Johnson and Hogan, they all got out of their cars and ran up the hill to Lil Cricket and started shooting. He heard a lot of shots. Then they returned to the cars and they left. R. 567, l. 3 - 569, l. 25.

Johnson admitted on cross-examination that he met with police and gave them varying statements on three consecutive days after the incident, on July 20, 21, and 22, 2012. He was told that he faced a potential thirty year sentence, which he would be required to serve day for day. On November 10, 2012, he executed a recantation, in which he wrote:

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