ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

DEC 16 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2013-000149

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

RAYMOND LEWIS YOUNG,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

Young next claims any probative value of the testimony was outweighed by unfair prejudice, but the prejudice posited by Young is vague. With reference to Rule 403, he simply claims that any evidence relating to the word "gang" is prejudicial and inflammatory and prevented him from receiving a fair trial. (Brief of Appellant, p.25). He relies in part on this Court's opinion in State v. Sobers, 404 S.C. 263, 744 S.E.2d 588 (Ct. App. 2013) in support of his argument; however, Sobers dealt solely with a trial court's ruling on relevance pursuant to Rule 401, not an analysis of prejudice. Id. Therefore, Sobers is not directly applicable. To the extent it does apply, Sobers stands for the proposition that deference must be given to the trial court regarding the admission or exclusion of evidence. Id. at 267-68, 744 S.E.2d at 590. Here, the trial court listened carefully to the defendants' arguments and, after hearing testimony from many fact witnesses, determined the probative value of Brown's testimony was significant. The "unfair prejudice" claimed by Young simply does not exist. Instead, the probative value of the testimony supports the trial court allowing it into evidence. Young has shown no abuse of discretion and no exceptional circumstances to warrant reversing the trial court's discretionary ruling to admit Investigator Brown's testimony into evidence.

Young also complains about the solicitor's closing argument, contending that although she did not use the word "gang," her references were clearly gang related. (Brief of Appellant,

p.21). Because the testimony was properly admitted by the trial court, the solicitor's reference to that testimony during closing arguments, either directly or implicitly, was likewise appropriate. See State v. Cooper, 334 S.C. 540, 553, 514 S.E.2d 584, 591 (1999) (“[A] solicitor has a right to state his version of the testimony and to comment on the weight to be given such testimony.”). Furthermore, even if the reference was somehow improper, it would not require reversal because Young cannot show he did not receive a fair trial due to the alleged improper argument. Humphries v. State, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002). Indeed, Young could not have suffered unfair prejudice from the alleged inference that he was in a gang because the trial court thoroughly instructed the jurors on their role as the sole judges of the credibility of witnesses, the burden of proof, the presumption of innocence, reasonable doubt, direct and circumstantial evidence, and the elements of the crimes. (R.p.784-p.796). See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 590, n.1, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 n.1 (1999) (“A jury is presumed to follow instructions.”). In any event, since none of the defendants objected to the solicitor's closing argument, the challenge to that closing argument is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 606, 611 S.E.2d 283, 283, 293 (Ct. App. 2005).

Rule 404, SCRE: Character Evidence

Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion. Rule 404(a), SCRE. Young argues: “The defendants made no attempt to introduce evidence of their good character so as to open the door to bad character evidence from the solicitor” and concludes: “Thus, the gang evidence was improper character evidence under Rule 404(a), SCRE.” (Brief of Appellant, p.37). However, this argument is entirely conclusory and presupposes the State introduced evidence of Young's character or trait of character. It did not. Our Supreme Court has defined

“character” as “a generalized description of a person’s disposition or a general trait such as honesty, temperance, or peacefulness.” State v. Nelson, 331 S.C. 1, 7, 501 S.E.2d 716, 718 (1998). Not only did Investigator Brown not directly testify Young was in a gang, no State’s witness testified as to Young’s disposition or claim he had a general trait for dishonesty, violence, or any other character. Thus, no character evidence was offered and there was no basis for exclusion under the Rule.

Harmless Error

Regardless of whether the trial court erred in allowing testimony using the word “gang,” any such error does not require reversal of Young’s convictions. Given the direct evidence of Young’s participation in the crimes as offered by codefendants Hogan and Johnson, and the substantial circumstantial evidence of his participation, the overwhelming evidence of Young’s guilt rendered any errors harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Young’s convictions should be affirmed.

III.

The trial court properly admitted several photographs of the codefendants flashing gang signs where: (1) the photos were cumulative to a photograph from Young’s Facebook page titled “The Family” which included Williams, Booker, and Young, and which was admitted without objection; (2) Young failed to object when Booker opened the door to their admission by cross-examining Investigator Brown on the alleged display of “gang signs” in a photo of the victims; (3) they were sufficiently authenticated by evidence presented at trial; (4) they were relevant as part of the res gestae of the crime and as proof of identity, intent, and motive; and (5) their probative value outweighed any danger of unfair prejudice.

Young argues the trial court erred in admitting two photographs of him and his codefendants making “gang signs” because the solicitor failed to lay the proper foundation for

their admission, they were not relevant to the facts at issue in the case, and they were unduly prejudicial.⁹ The State disagrees and submits each of Young's arguments is without merit.

Initially, the State submits this entire issue should not be considered on appeal for two reasons. First, any possible negative inference flowing from the photos because they suggested the codefendants associated together in a "gang" was cumulative to the exact same inference which flowed from the photograph on Young's Facebook page which was titled the "The Family" and which included Williams, Booker, and Young. That photo was admitted without objection from Young, Booker, or Williams. (R.p.481, line 4-p.482, line 12). Therefore, any error with respect to admission of the "gang signs" photos was entirely harmless. See, e.g., State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other unobjected-to evidence is harmless). Second, Booker opened the door to admission of the photographs through his cross-examination of Investigator Brown, and Young raised no objection to that cross-examination. Indeed, Young cannot complain that admission of gang sign evidence was unduly prejudicial where he did not object to Booker's questions, and those questions opened the door to the responsive gang sign evidence offered by the State on redirect. See State v. Robinson, 305 S.C. 469, 474 409 S.E.2d 404, 408 (1991) ("[Because] Appellant opened the door to this evidence, he cannot complain of prejudice from its admission."); see also State v. Culbreath, 377 S.C. 326, 333 659 S.E.2d 268, 272 (Ct. App. 2008) ("A defendant may open the door to what otherwise would be improper evidence through his own introduction of evidence or witness examination. A party cannot complain of prejudice to which he opened the door."). In any event, the photographs were appropriately admitted where

⁹ Although Investigator Brown testified about four such photographs (State's Exhibits 51 through 54), only State's Exhibit 51 and State's Exhibit 54 were ultimately admitted into evidence. (R.p.499-p.504).

they were properly authenticated pursuant to Rule 901, they were relevant to facts in issue in the case, and their probative value outweighed any danger of unfair prejudice.

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 126, 687 S.E.2d 35, 38 (2009); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) (“The appellate court reviews a trial judge’s ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court.” (emphasis added)). Rule 901 of the Rules of Evidence provides: “The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Rule 901(a), SCRE. It goes on to list examples of authentication or identification conforming with the requirements of the rule, including: “testimony that a matter is what it is claimed to be” and an item’s “[a]pppearance, contents, . . . or other distinctive characteristics, taken in conjunction with circumstances.” Rule 901(b)(1) & (4), SCRE. Investigator Brown, who personally knew each of the codefendants at the time of trial, identified particular individuals in the admitted photographs, thus offering testimony that the matter is what it is claimed to be—a photograph of those individuals. In regard to State’s Exhibit 51 he identified Hogan, Booker, and Williams, and in regard to State’s Exhibit 54 he identified Young. (R.p.502, lines 4-9; p.503, line 16-p.504, line 8). Additionally, Brown’s identification of these individuals was necessarily based on the appearance and distinctive characteristics of the people identified. Thus, the evidentiary predicate of authentication was met in two ways and the trial court did not err in finding the proper foundation had been laid for admission pursuant to Rule 901, SCRE.

In regard to relevance, as a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible. State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 34, 538 S.E.2d 248, 255 (2000); Rule 402, SCRE. Evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy. State v. Salley, 398 S.C. 160, 169, 727 S.E.2d 740, 745 (2012); State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 153, 561 S.E.2d 640, 645 (Ct. App. 2002); Rule 401, SCRE (“Relevant evidence” means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”). With respect to photographs, “the relevancy, materiality, and admissibility of photographs as evidence are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial court.” State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 290, 676 S.E.2d 690, 697 (2009) (quoting State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996)). Admitting photographs which serve to corroborate testimony is not an abuse of discretion. State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 250, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607 (Ct. App. 2008).

Here, the two photographs of Young and his codefendants flashing gang signs simply provided additional evidence of Young’s association with his codefendants and corroborated evidence that the shooting was a coordinated attack by the codefendants in retaliation for the earlier shooting at the RP. As explained in Argument I above, to the extent the photographs suggested Young was in a gang, such evidence was relevant and admissible as part of the res gestae of the crimes charged. See State v. McGee, 408 S.C. 278, 287-88, 758 S.E.2d 730, 735-36 (2014) (discussing the res gestae theory of admissibility). It was also probative as to why several State’s witnesses initially recanted all or portions of the statements to law enforcement that identified Young as one of the shooters. Furthermore, the identity of the individuals who committed the attempted murders was clearly of consequence to the jury’s determination of guilt

or innocence at trial, particularly where Young presented a defense that the State could not prove he participated in the shootings. Brown's ability to connect the defendant's close relationship through their use of gang signs had a tendency to make the determination of the identity of the shooters more probable than it would be without the testimony, particularly in the context of the State's theory of the case. Similarly, the testimony had a tendency to make a determination of motive and criminal intent more probable than it would have been without the testimony. The challenged photographs helped provide the answer to the question of why the attackers committed the shooting at the LC: their motive was to retaliate against the Hardliners, the rap group whose members had fought with and exchanged gunfire with Young and his close associates earlier that night at the RP, resulting in Edwards and Davis being shot. Indeed, it was Brown, using his gang knowledge, who identified RP shooting victim Brandon Edwards as a close associate of Young. This connection fits squarely into the State's narrative that Young, Williams, Booker, Sadler, and the other codefendants attacked the Hardliners at the LC in retaliation for the injuries sustained in the earlier fight. Thus, the photographs of Young and his codefendants flashing gang signs were relevant. Rule 401, SCRE.

In regard to the possibility of undue prejudice, our courts have held that: "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Cooley, 342 S.C. 63, 536 S.E.2d 666 (2000). "To show prejudice, there must be a reasonable probability that the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence." State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012). Further, Rule 403, SCRE, requires there to be 'unfair prejudice' before the evidence will be excluded. "Unfair prejudice

does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest a decision on an improper basis." Id. at 529, 732 S.E.2d at 229. A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003). The appellate courts review a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment. Id. at 358, 543 S.E.2d at 593. See Aleksey, 343 S.C. at 35, 538 S.E.2d at 256 (finding the trial judge is given broad discretion in ruling on questions concerning relevancy of evidence, and his decision will be reversed only if there is a clear abuse of discretion). "If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal." State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001) overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

Here, the photographs were not merely relevant, but were highly probative because they corroborated the remaining evidence that the shooting was a coordinated attack by a group of close associates in retaliation for the earlier shooting at the RP. Young's affiliation with the other codefendants supported the State's evidence indicating that their actions were a premeditated, forceful response, which was part of the res gestae of the crimes charged and also corroborated testimony about the recanted statements from two testifying codefendants who had identified Young as one of the shooters. The photographs were also highly probative of identity by corroborating testimony that Young participated in the shootings with the other codefendants. Indeed, where the photographs were discovered on Young's phone and included pictures of Booker and Williams, they helped prove identity, motive, and criminal intent in the context of

the State's theory of the case. Given the trial court's discretion to admit photographic evidence that corroborates testimony at trial, the judge also did not err in admitting these photographs of Young and his codefendants over Young's Rule 403, SCRE, objection.

Whatever the case, as with the testimony using the term "gang," the overwhelming evidence of Young's guilt rendered any errors in admission of the two "gang sign" photographs harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Young's convictions should be affirmed.

IV.

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